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Forced to Abandon Their Farms:

Water Deprivation and Starvation among
the Gila River Pima, 1892-1904

DAVID H. DEJONG

[T]he Indians . . . continued to increase their cultivated lands and
were prosperous and contented. White people began to take water
from the river about forty years ago. The first diversion being so small
we hardly noticed it, but they gradually took more out each year till we
noticed our loss by not being able to irrigate all our fields. We were
forced to abandon them little by little, until some twenty years ago
when we were left high and dry.

—Chir-purtke, sixty-seven-year-old Pima elder, June 1914!

INTRODUCTION

On 17 June 1902, after more than a decade of political debate and maneu-
vering, the National Reclamation Act became law.2 This legislation provided
direct federal subsidies for the development of irrigation projects across the
arid West. Initially, reclamation projects focused on public, rather than pri-
vate, lands; and since there were large tracts of public lands in the Gila River
and Casa Grande valleys, many people—including government officials—
believed the first federal reclamation project in Arizona would be built there.?
Political leaders and farmers from these valleys, banking on a large area of
public lands waiting to be developed, were well aware of the chief factor they
believed would carry them in their desire for the first federally financed recla-
mation project: the well-known but unfulfilled government promises to alle-
viate the water problems of the Pima tribe.*

David H. DeJong holds a master’s degree in American Indian Policy Studies from the
University of Arizona (1990) and is currently completing his doctorate at the same
institution. He has served as public involvement specialist with the Pima-Maricopa
Irrigation Project in the Gila River Indian Community in Arizona since January 2001.
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The Reclamation Act generated challenges across much of Indian
Country in the West as non-Indians began appropriating the remaining flow
of many western streams, including the Gila River. Prominent disputes—
predating the law—arose on the Yakima (Washington), Ft. Belknap
(Montana), Pyramid Lake (Nevada), Ft. Hall (Idaho), and Wind River
(Wyoming) reservations. Indian tribes across the West, already facing serious
water challenges, now faced increased competition as public lands once con-
sidered marginal were settled and irrigated, with the remaining water rapidly
being appropriated by non-Indian water users.

The Indian Service was completely unprepared for what transpired. Prior
to 1900 it did not employ a single professional irrigation engineer and did
little to assist tribes in putting their water to use. At the time of the
Reclamation Act this was well known among government officials. Fredrick
Newell, director of the newly created Reclamation Service, prophetically
wrote in 1903 that Indian water rights were in “great danger” of being per-
manently lost because the water was being put to beneficial use by others,
namely non-Indian farmers who were encouraged to settle and develop the
public domain by the US government.> More pointedly, the Indian Service—
charged by Congress to assist tribes in making the transition from their tradi-
tional ways of life to one more closely aligned with their non-Indian
neighbors—did little to help tribes develop the infrastructure needed to irri-
gate their land and did even less to protect their rights to the water.

There are several reasons why the Indian Service ignored the rights of its
Indian charges. First, westerners were opposed to federal involvement in
Indian resource development because they perceived such potential projects
as giving Indians leverage over them since they were categorically excluded in
such legislation. Furthermore, few westerners believed the government
should do much more than open up Indian lands for non-Indian settlement,
viewing reservations as both temporary and as preventing the full utilization
of the nation’s natural resources. For Indian water to be put to beneficial use
(and protected under state prior appropriation laws that the Indian Service
assumed applied to Indian Country), it would have to be stored and diverted.
This would require large federal appropriations and would give an advantage
to Indians that was not then available to non-Indians. Non-Indians, nonethe-
less, continued to lobby for such federal support in the form of the
Reclamation Act. Having the power of the ballot—while their Indian neigh-
bors did not—westerners spoke with their vote and marginalized Indian pro-
jects in order to support non-Indian water development.

Second, and equally important, neither Congress nor the courts ever
sanctioned a principle of Indian water rights outside of state prior appropria-
tion laws. Congress, for instance, always deferred water rights matters to state
law. After all, Indian subjection to state jurisdiction was the long-desired goal
of Congress. Thus, while there was a different set of laws governing Indian
Country, it was assumed Indian water issues fell within the purview of state
water law. Not until 1908 and the US Supreme Court’s Winters v. United States
decision did tribes have any legal basis for protecting their water outside of
state law. But even then the Indian Service failed to capitalize on the ruling to
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the benefit of the Indians, continuing to seek protection of Indian water
under prior appropriation laws.6

Consequently, in the decades preceding the Winters ruling, the Indian
Service, its purse and policies controlled by Congress, did little to assist tribes
in ensuring their water was put to good use and did even less in protecting
Indian water from non-Indian appropriators. Congress was unprepared on
both philosophical and political grounds to commit the government to large
appropriations to ensure both the utilization and protection of Indian water
rights. Even if it had been willing, it would have been a politically challenging
endeavor given that most Americans believed strongly in states’ rights and
limited federal involvement. In the meantime tribes such as the Pima suffered
from deprivation because of lack of water.

THE CRISIS BEGINS

The Gila River Pima (Akimel O’otham or “River People”) began experienc-
ing an insufficient flow of surface water in the 1870s. In 1878 the Gila was dry
from May until December, with many Pima and Maricopa families lacking
even domestic water. A year later, in an attempt to provide additional land and
protect Pima and Maricopa villages in the Gila Crossing and Komatke area,
President Rutherford B. Hayes extended the reservation northwest to the con-
fluence of the Salt and Gila rivers, adding some thirty-two thousand acres.
Water for crops, however, remained in short supply. As a result, half of the
Indians (about twenty-five hundred) moved off the reservation into the Salt
River Valley in order “that they might not hear their women and children cry
for bread.” Indian agent A. B. Ludlam reported in 1880 that for the first time
the US government had to purchase wheat for “destitute Indians.””

In the 1880s the lack of water grew more acute, even though each Pima
family yet retained “a wheat field and every village a ditch.”® By 1886 Pima
Agent R. G. Wheeler informed Commissioner of Indian Affairs John Atkins
that the Pima and their Maricopa neighbors had “ample lands” but lacked
“water for irrigation.” Having sufficient water, the Pima had been prosperous
farmers disinterested in “charitable or any other assistance.” They thoroughly
understood how to use water, Indian Inspector P. McCormick informed
Interior Secretary Cornelius Bliss in April of 1897, “and [they] know how to
handle it.”® Without water, Pima elder William Wallace murmured, their
“pride as independent and self-supporting people” would be destroyed.!?

That the Pima knew how to farm was never in doubt. Pima agent Elmer
Howard, writing to Atkins in 1887, explained that “[t]he Pima Indians are
eminently an agricultural people, having tilled the soil for centuries. They are
well skilled in hydraulic farming.”!! Indian Inspector Robert Gardner was
more succinct. Writing to Secretary of the Interior Henry Teller, Gardner
noted, “They do not need a farmer” to teach them how to farm. Inspector
Franklin Armstrong reiterated this observation the following year: “I find also
a farmer here at $800 per year—Mr. Cox. This man will be of but little use
here, as the Indians are better farmers for this country than he is.”12
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The Pima confronted a variety of challenges in the late nineteenth cen-
tury. They dealt with dishonest agents, scandalous traders, and political feuds
between federal employees and missionaries. Foremost among these chal-
lenges were trespassers “who refuse the Indians the use of water.”!3 Agent
Claude Johnson, writing in 1888, opined that “considering the vast surrender
of national wealth made by these Indians . . . the best aid that can be given to
[them] . . . is the extension of their irrigation facilities.”!* Two years later,
Johnson, having been denied a request for fifty thousand dollars to construct
a reservoir, dam, and canal system on the reservation, asked Atkins to send an
engineer to the reservation to evaluate the prospects for a large irrigation sys-
tem on the Gila River.

By the turn of the twentieth century, agent John B. Alexander could only
echo the concerns so often made in the preceding fifteen years. “The reser-
vation contains good irrigable lands,” Alexander noted, “but lacks the chief
essential—water.”1> One of the reasons for the lack of water was the construc-
tion of the Florence Canal (later known as the Florence—Casa Grande Canal)
in 1886, which diverted nearly all the remaining surface flow of the Gila River
above the reservation. Upper valley users in the Safford and Solomonville
communities also placed increasingly high demands on the waters of the river,
as shown in Table 1.16

Table 1
Percentage Use of Gila River Natural and Flood Water Flow,
Select Years 1866-1918

Year Pima Reservation® Florence-Casa Grande Safford-Solomonville
1866 100 0 0

1878 73.60 11.23 13.57

1892 48.27 9.79 35.38

1901 42.69 10.90 36.56

1910 37.99 10.50 41.30

1914 36.38 13.00 40.71

1918 29.50 28.64 33.62

Source. “Gila River Priority Analysis, Water Distribution Chart #3,” United States Indian
Service, Irrigation, 20 Jan. 1926.

Note. Percentages do not total 100 because smaller users have been omitted.

"Percentage calculated by default after Florence-Casa Grande, Safford-Solomonville, and
other smaller users subtracted. This amount represents total available flow (natural and
flood), not the amount that actually reached the reservation boundary.

Gardner informed Teller in 1886 that the Florence Canal “should not be
built [to] benefit a few speculators to the loss and detriment of four or five
thousand Indians.”!7 Consequently, Teller asked the US Geological Survey
(USGS) to evaluate the situation. The USGS concluded that “if the agricul-
ture of the Indians now on the reservation is to have normal growth,” the
“greater part, and perhaps the whole of the waters of the Gila will be neces-
sary therefore.” The USGS admitted that “the construction of a dam by the
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Florence Canal Company . . . will give the control substantially of all the water
of the Gila River [to the canal company] and if the owners of the dam carry
the water right also, they can deliver the water to the reservation or not, as
best suits their plans.” If the waters of the Gila River were cut off, Pima lands
“would become uninhabitable.” Inspector Franklin Armstrong reminded the
Indian Service that “the question of water will at some future day be a serious
one here for irrigation.”!8

The Geological Survey clearly recognized that the Pima needed more water.
The Florence Canal Company, fearful of being denied a right to divert water,
promised it would not diminish the amount of water currently used by the Pima.
Both the USGS and the US attorney agreed to this but did nothing to quantify
the area farmed or the flow of water used, something that would not be accom-
plished until 1913-14, when the Indian Service belatedly recognized that Indian
water rights might be lost if non-Indian reclamation projects continued to usurp
all the water. Without such data it would be impossible to determine Pima water
rights. In the meantime the USGS admitted the natural flow of the Gila was “all
appropriated now by the white settlers above” the reservation.!?

In the spring of 1886 Interior Secretary Lucius Q. C. Lamar had asked the
US attorney general to “take such steps under the Federal or Territorial laws
as might be necessary to protect the Indians in their rights.” The US district
attorney for Arizona Territory recommended that litigation not be brought
against the Florence Canal Company until data on acreage and water flow
could be quantified. Bureaucratic ineptness delayed the question of gathering
data until 1904, and it was another decade before they were actually gathered.
But rather than seeking to litigate Pima water rights, agency superintendent
John Alexander recommended that the cost of litigation (twenty to thirty
thousand dollars) was too steep to warrant the expense. Commissioner of
Indian Affairs William Jones concurred and notified the attorney general that
the Indian Service would pursue no further legal action—despite the fact that
the Florence Canal Company had prepared to litigate in 1886 fearing loss of
access to the river.20

No action was taken as a matter of policy because the reservation
remained in communal ownership, not being allotted in severalty until the
1910s. The federal government was in no hurry to protect water rights for the
tribe, desiring instead to allot land and appurtenant water rights in severalty.2!
Without an adequate and assured supply of water to irrigate the land and
make it productive (to ensure the self-sufficiency of the people), the reserva-
tion could not be allotted. Furthermore, the Indian Service operated under
the assumption that Indian reservations—particularly nontreaty reservations
such as the Pima Reservation—would be dissolved within a few years and its
lands divided in severalty with surplus lands opened to non-Indian settlement.
At such a day American Indians would take their place in the American polity
as citizens without any special right that may have been encumbered while in
tribal status. In the meantime, of course, more farmers in the upper valleys—
encouraged to acquire public domain lands and make them productive with
the waters of the Gila River—diverted more water, increasing their take of the
river from 13.57 percent to 41.3 percent of the flow, between 1878 and 1910.
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Upper valley increases had an immediate and adverse impact on non-Indian
farmers in the Florence area, as well, where percentage of water share
declined from 11.23 percent to 10.5 percent during the same period. While
nearly twenty-three thousand acres had been sold near Florence and awaited
water patents, just seven thousand acres were farmed owing to the growing
“scarcity of water.” The Pima, once prosperous farmers, were quickly becom-
ing destitute and were on the brink of social and economic displacement, see-
ing their share of river water decline 62 percent between 1866 and 1910.22
Scores of Pima farms were abandoned. Others were “only partially cultivated,
yielding scant and uncertain returns.”?? Pima farmer George Pablo bemoaned
how some of the Pima “had to leave our farms [in Mount Top Village] and
move up the river,” where seepage water was available.?* Whole villages—
including Mount Top Village—disappeared.

INTERVENTION?

To the north of the reservation, non-Indians in the Salt River Valley organized
the Salt River Valley Water Storage Committee to resolve water rights con-
flicts, identify potential dam sites, and lobby Congress.2> In 1901 the Maricopa
County Board of Water Storage Commissioners was established to identify
ways of floating county bonds to build a storage reservoir on the Salt River.
However, non-Indians of the Gila River and Casa Grande valleys, still con-
vinced that the federal obligation to restore water to the Pima Reservation
would ensure federal support for their storage reservoir, did little. So perva-
sive was the belief that Pima water needs would force the federal government
to restore water through a reclamation project that even many members of
Congress believed the first federal reclamation project would be on the Gila
River for the benefit of the Pima.26

In the closing years of the nineteenth century, Congress debated the role
and extent of federal support for and involvement in financing reclamation
projects across the western United States. While various reclamation bills were
introduced in Congress, none provided direct federal support to construct
storage reservoirs. One bill became law in 1894 and provided grants of federal
land to individual states, which could then sell the land and use the proceeds
to finance reclamation projects.2” Arizona territorial governor Nathan
Murphy had been a catalyst in grants of land to the states, opposing direct fed-
eral involvement. Murphy favored such cessions, as they would ostensibly
encourage local control and foster conservation of water resources.28

While Congress was making grants to the states, it authorized water
resource investigations of western lands. Under an 1888 law the hydrologic
branch of the USGS set out to quantify water supplies, identify potential reser-
voir sites, and map areas that could potentially be irrigated. In 1890 hydrolo-
gist Frederick Newell arrived in Arizona to review the Salt and Gila River
drainages. Within a year Newell was looking at a variety of reservoir sites along
the Gila River. By 1893 he hooked up with Charles Walcott, director of the
USGS, and Arthur Davis, a hydrologic engineer, and began formulating a
national irrigation policy. The policy did not, however, include Indian
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Country. While the Indian Service encouraged agriculture in Indian Country
and within the Pima Reservation—and, in fact, provided agricultural equip-
ment and seed to Indian farmers—it did little to secure or protect the water
necessary for agriculture to succeed, believing any efforts to do so would hin-
der the full development of the water resources of the West.2?

In 1895 Congress appropriated thirty-five hundred dollars for the USGS
to conduct an irrigation study for the Pima Reservation. Newell assigned Davis
to head the study, and in his report to Walcott, Davis noted that outside of
forcing the upstream water users to “turn back into the river an amount of
water equal to that formerly employed by the Indians,” the only real option to
provide water to the Pima was to build a masonry dam at a site on the Gila
River capable of storing at least 200,000 acre-feet of water. This dam could be
on Queen Creek, a tributary of the Gila with 27,000 acre-feet of storage, or at
the Buttes, twenty miles above the reservation on the Gila River, with 208,000
acre-feet of storage. The latter site would provide 20,000 acre-feet of water for
the Pima and “leave a large surplus to be sold to settlers on Government lands
under the canal system.” Twenty thousand acre-feet of water was clearly insuf-
ficient for the needs of the Pima. Outside of a dam, Davis recommended the
use of groundwater or the purchase of surface water from the Salt River Valley
and the construction of a canal to the reservation.30

Davis did not think it feasible to deliver water from the Salt River Valley
to the Pima Reservation through what he termed a “highline canal.” The cost
of diverting water far enough up in the Salt River Valley to transport it across
the desert into the Gila River Valley and deliver it to the reservation would be
too great. From an engineering perspective he saw it as impractical to deliver
water to the east end of the reservation, where the land was “most desirable
and where most of the cultivation has been carried on in the past.” Because
of these restrictions, Davis argued, water would have to be delivered to the
central part of the reservation, where fewer people lived.3!

At the same time, the New York-based Hudson Reservoir and Canal
Company secured a right-of-way across the reservation to deliver Salt River
Valley water to the Casa Grande Valley.?? As part of its right-of-way agreement
the company agreed to deliver water to Pima farmers whose lands abutted the
canal.?? Despite grand plans, and as Davis had predicted a year earlier, the dif-
ficulty in raising the capital needed to build the dam (estimated at three mil-
lion dollars) was too great, and the company abandoned the site.3*

In the years prior to the National Reclamation Act a number of territorial
and federal government officials sought and expected federal support for a
dam on the Gila River. Intended to benefit the Pima, such a project would also
encourage the development of off-reservation lands.% Arizona territorial gov-
ernor Louis C. Hughes energetically encouraged the United States to con-
struct a storage dam on the Gila River. Playing on the water needs of the Pima,
Hughes envisioned a project that would irrigate five hundred thousand acres
of land in the Gila River and Casa Grande valleys. This, the governor reasoned,
would “supply all the land required by these Indians for all time to come” and
allow “a bonus” of off-reservation land to be “served with water from the pro-
posed reservoir.” Hughes predicted a bright future with a federal reclamation
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project. He foresaw more than four million families making their homes in
Arizona—but an irrigation project was a prerequisite for this growth.36

YEARS OF FAMINE

By the beginning of the twentieth century the annual requests of the agency
superintendents and inspectors for the federal government to resolve the
growing Pima water crisis multiplied. Inspector William Junkin encouraged
the Indian Service to protect “the Indians in the use of the water from the
stream in this vicinity before the encroachments of the white men have
deprived [them] of their prior rights.” Special agent Franklin Armstrong
reminded Secretary Ethan Allen Hitchcock that the Pima “must have water
for irrigation or starve or get Government rations.”” But, while Congress
appropriated twenty thousand dollars for the USGS to evaluate and study two
proposed dam sites in 1898, it refused to commit to any project.?® Not sur-
prisingly, agent J. Roe Young expressed his frustration by complaining “until
the time comes when the Government is ready and willing to come to the
assistance of [the Pima], I consider any further discussion of the subject
unnecessary.”?¥ Even Walcott noted the “matter of obtaining a permanent
[water] supply for these Indians is one which has been before the Department
in one form or another for fourteen years.” While Congress introduced a bill
appropriating one million dollars to study the San Carlos site in 1900, it failed
to enact it, instead appropriating another thirty thousand dollars for the “sup-
port of the Indians at the Pima Agency.”+

The thirty-thousand-dollar appropriation was critical because of events
both upstream of and far removed from the reservation. The entire Gila River
watershed had undergone, and continued to undergo, great ecological
change in the nineteenth century. Beginning with the near extinction of the
beaver from the Gila watershed, erosion, gullying, and silting had significantly
increased with the loss of forest canopies in some areas of the watershed.
Other factors that impacted the flow of water and disrupted its natural
recharge included destructive forest fires and the destruction of native grasses
through overgrazing.4!

But there were other changes adding to the stress of the Indians. As
upstream diversions from the Gila River increased, some surface water con-
tinued to flow, at least periodically, on the reservation. From this surface flow
the Pima grew enough food to subsist. Part of the challenge in the 1880s was
crop selection. Hay—or alfalfa—was becoming the primary cash crop in cen-
tral Arizona and barley the main cereal crop. Wheat was declining in value in
Pinal and Maricopa counties, which surrounded the reservation. The Pima
seemed unaware of these changes, and, when water allowed, they continued
to cultivate wheat. Consequently, the Pima were increasingly finding them-
selves on the periphery of the territory’s growing economy. Water deprivation
further marginalized their economic base.*?

The Pima Reservation was no longer a “breadbasket” of Arizona as it had
been prior to 1870. In most years Indian farmers were still able to grow two
crops, although after 1890 it became more common to have a single winter
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crop.®® Even when the surface flow of the river failed, Pima farmers in some
locales could depend on the subsurface or seepage flow. Pima agriculture in the
latter years of the nineteenth century was largely sustained from this flow of
water. By the time the Florence Canal opened in 1889, the Pima still used sur-
face water from the Gila River but were growing increasingly dependent on the
underflow that was forced to the surface in various locations along the river.
The largest of these underground shon, or springs, was located near Blackwater
on the east end of the reservation. Seepage water could also be found at
Sweetwater near the center of the reservation and Komatke on the west end.
Seepage water, however, was “not very good” and resulted in reduced yields.**

By 1890 most of the surface flow of the river was appropriated by upstream
non-Indian farmers. While the groundwater flow continued, heavy upstream
diversions and environmental changes in the Gila watershed were poised to
challenge the very existence of the Pima. Agent Cornelius W. Crouse informed
Indian commissioner Thomas J. Morgan that without a storage reservoir the
Pima would “soon cease to be styled ‘self-supporting.”” Seepage was poor-
quality water, and floodwater was too intermittent. The Pima grew only two-
thirds of their normal crop in 1890 because of a shortage of irrigation water.4>

The 1890s and early 1900s were especially difficult times for the Pima,
prompting seventy-year-old Pima elder Joseph Head to state, “White people
have no idea how the Pima Indians have suffered by the diversions of their
water.” Not only had it caused the Indians “to abandon our old farms and
homes which we loved so dearly, in order to seek for seepage water,” but it also
caused them to “live in the mesquite forest to get their bread by selling wood.”#6

In the 1890s drought was the norm rather than the exception. While
drought was not a new phenomenon, the fact that it was prefaced with ever-
increasing upstream diversions made conditions within the reservation even
harsher. Upstream diversions increased from zero to nearly 60 percent of the
Gila’s flow between 1866 and 1901. The remaining flow, while constituting 40
percent of the river, increasingly failed to make it to the reservation or came
as floods in short ephemeral bursts. Seepage into the sandy alluvium claimed
more water than what actually arrived on the reservation.4” Summer crops
failed eleven times between 1892 and 1904, and winter crops failed five times
between 1899 and 1904, marking the years between 1892 and 1904 as the
years of famine. A Pima calendar stick for 1898-99 simply noted: “There was
no crop this year.” In 1900 agency physician George ]. Fanning reported
“more than the usual number of deaths among the Indians during the past
year, owing, I believe, to a lack of water.” The result was an increased “state of
semi-starvation and scurvy.” An elderly couple was found dead in their home
without food of any kind in their storehouse. As proud, industrious people,
the Pima “preferred to starve rather than beg.”#

Drought conditions began in the spring of 1891 after a disastrous winter
flood of 1890-91. While the Pima grew six million pounds (one hundred
thousand bushels) of winter grain in 1889-90, they grew just half that amount
in 1890-91. Conditions were serious enough that Junkin recommended the
purchase of thirteen thousand pounds of flour and twenty-five hundred
pounds of bacon for “destitute Indians.”>? By the fall of 1891, drought caused
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Arizona ranchers to ship hundreds of thousands of cattle and horses out of
the territory. Within a year the drought in southern Arizona was severe.>!
Nonetheless, more than twenty thousand steers were driven into the Salt River
Valley to forage on irrigated alfalfa, suggesting there was still plenty of water
in that valley.>? Conditions on the Pima Reservation deteriorated to the point
that the first large-scale wholesale cutting of one of the reservation’s few
remaining natural resources—mesquite trees—began in earnest.

Every year from 1892 until 1904 the drought prevented the Pima from
growing sufficient crops to sustain themselves. Crouse estimated that one
thousand Indians would raise no grain at all in 1893 and asked departmental
authority to purchase three hundred thousand pounds (five thousand
bushels) of wheat for subsistence and seed. About five thousand acres of land
were fenced and prepared for cultivation in 1895, but because of the “scarcity
of water” the Pima could not sow their grain.’® Estimates indicate the Pima
needed a minimum of fifty thousand bushels (three million pounds) of wheat
just to subsist (based on two pounds per person per day for pinole and tor-
tillas). The starving years had begun, even though other areas in southern
Arizona continued to grow crops.’*

By the mid-1890s, conditions grew so critical on the reservation that
Young again requested permission to purchase an additional 225,000 pounds
of wheat “to prevent starvation” among the Pima. Young predicted the gov-
ernment would have to buy food annually for the Pima because of non-Indian
farm development above the reservation and its use of nearly all of the surface
water.> In 1894 alone more than twenty-one hundred new acres were
improved above the reservation, bringing the total acreage of improved land
above the reservation to 26,343.56

In 1895 the Gila River stopped flowing on the reservation on April 10, a
full month earlier than it had in 1894. Summer crops again failed, and the
Pima faced hunger, prompting Young to inform Commissioner Daniel
Browning that “a large number of these Indians” would have to be fed during
the coming winter. “They made a strong effort to make a crop and would have
done so,” Young noted, “had the water supply not given out.” A year earlier
Young reported that he “was forced to call for aid to prevent starvation. Again
this year they must have subsistence or suffer the pangs of hunger.”5?

In a sign of the times a Pima father was convicted of grand larceny in the
territorial district court. Wee Paps was arrested, tried, and convicted of steal-
ing several horses and trading them for food. Upon his conviction to serve
one year in the territorial penitentiary, Wee Paps explained:

Until the past few years we have always had plenty of water to irrigate
our farms, and we never knew what want was. We always had grain
stored up for a full year’s supply. . . . The Government refuses to give
us food and we do not ask for it; we only ask for water, for we prefer to
earn our own living if we can. I am no thief, and I will not beg, but my
wife and children were hungry, and I must either steal or they must
starve. So I took the horses and traded them for grain, and the hunger
of my family was satisfied.”>8
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The water gave out even earlier in 1896, compelling Young to arrange
work for more than two hundred Pima men on the Southern Pacific
Railroad.”® Conditions were worsening across the south central Arizona
deserts. Territorial governor Benjamin J. Franklin noted in May of 1896 that
“water is growing scarcer,” and “unless rain comes soon serious results will fol-
low.” The summer rains came, and by June the governor noted that “all irri-
gating localities . . . have made good growth and [crops] are looking well.” By
July “the reservoirs and canals [were] bank full and there will be no scarcity
of water during the hot season.”® Yet on the Pima Reservation little progress
was made in supplying the Indians with water. Consequently, the Pima were
left “destitute and [in] much poverty and distress.” In 1901 territorial gover-
nor Murphy called on the federal government to address Pima water needs.%!
Given a fair water supply, Inspector McCormick told Interior Secretary
Michael Smith, the reservation would be “a prosperous community.”62

As conditions worsened, special Indian agent S. L. Taggart noted that
“small patches cultivated by the Indians in their rude way and with a very scant
water supply” resulted in some thirty to forty bushels of wheat per acre. This
demonstrated the value of the reservation land, assuming water could be pro-
vided. Taggart added that farms in Florence above the reservation were doing
better because they had “sufficient water at just the right time.”63 Many of the
Pima were now collecting “dead and down wood on the reservation and sold
many cords of it, earning . . . $30,000.” They were farming fewer than four
thousand acres of land by 1898, not as a result of “bad management or lazi-
ness” but “entirely from the want of water.”64

The drought turned deadly in 1899, when the winter crops also failed. The
river ceased flowing across the reservation in February. With no rainfall
between February and July, “crops that bid fair with a good start in January
were an entire failure.” “Taking an average not more than half a crop of wheat
was harvested this year,” Agent Elwood Hadley explained, “and the result is
that many a poor Indian will go hungry if the Government does not open its
crib doors and come to their rescue.”® Even though the summer rain
arrived—allowing the Pima to raise some corn, beans, and squash—that sum-
mer proved to be drier than any in the past decade.®6 Some of the Pima and
nomadic Papago, “driven by hunger,” crossed into Mexico on marauding expe-
ditions. Having little water and facing starvation, the Pima were quickly being
overtaken by “an insidious blight” of poverty. With each successive crop failure
they planted less. Each planting yielded less. Expecting less, they “scaled down
accordingly the standard of their existence.” More farms were abandoned, and
others were only partially cultivated, “yielding scant and uncertain returns.” As
the “lines [of despair] have tightened about the Indians,” some of the men
congregated at the agency in Sacaton, hoping to find work or news of the
return of their water. The Pima not only faced the pangs of hunger, but they
also appeared to be at the crossroad of their very existence.57

As bad as conditions were, they grew worse in 1900. S. M. McCowan,
superintendent of Phoenix Indian School, visited the reservation in May, not-
ing that many Pima families had “nothing to eat now but mescal and old
mesquite beans. Last year’s crop of wheat is entirely exhausted and the new
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crop will not be ripe for weeks. And the worst of it is that when the new crop
ripens there will be so little of it, owing to the drouth, that a very few weeks
will see it all gone.” The Pima were in a “deplorable condition. Never before
in the history of the tribe,” McCowan added, “have they been so destitute nor
the prospects for immediate improvement more discouraging,” since the
Pima would have “less than one-fifth of a crop of grain and their cattle are
dying in large numbers.”68

The national media even broadcast the predicament of the Pima in the
summer of 1900. The Chicago Tribune reported the following: “This statement
of the pitiable condition of the friendly and industrious Pimas is old news to
western readers, and the case is one of the most shameful and outrageous
instances of neglect and betrayal on the part of the United States of an ally,
worthy and true. That 6,000 Pima Indians, always the consistent and active
friends of the white man, should be reduced from a condition of wealth and
great prosperity to actual starvation through neglect of the federal govern-
ment,” the newspaper opined, “while the adjacent Apaches, always the white
man’s foes and causing more trouble, pillage and loss of life than any western
tribe, should be today sleek and well-fed at the hands of the same govern-
ment, seems a rewarding of enemies and killing of friends.” The Tribune con-
cluded by imploring, “Cannot some of our friends, who have anon[ymously]
professed such interest in the poor red man come to his assistance now and
see that he may be accorded simple justice? The cause is worthy, the means
are at hand; the interest alone is lacking.”69

The New York Tribunelikewise described the conditions of the Pima. “About
6,000 of these Indians are dependent for their subsistence upon the lands of
the reservation which contains 350,000 acres, while the water supply in the Gila
last year [1899], owing to use for lands above, has not been sufficient to irri-
gate 1,000 acres belonging to the Indians. Fully half the crops planted have not
produced enough for seed, notwithstanding the great fertility of the soil.”70

Despite agent John Alexander’s assertion that the reports of starvation
were exaggerated, stories of Pima starvation circulated in newspapers across
the country.”! Even Governor Murphy acknowledged that the agricultural
growth of the Gila Valley above the reservation had “been disastrous to the
[Pima].”?? Presbyterian ministers Sheldon Jackson and George L. Spining
released a report of their investigation of the Pima situation in 1900.
Distributed to churches, charities, and philanthropists across the nation,
Jackson’s and Spining’s picture of the severity of the crisis was austere: “Of 586
families recently visited, of whose number 1,428 are males and 1,425 are
females,” the Presbyterians explained, “only 7 families have been able to get a
full crop; 17 have raised three-fourths of a crop; 39 have secured about half
the regular crop; 91 families have got only one-sixth to one-fourth of a crop,
and 432 families of industrious Indians eager to work have not been able to
raise any crop at all for lack of water.”73

The summer monsoons began in central Arizona in the middle of July
1900. But despite an inch of rain in Florence on July 19, the drought was too
far along to reverse. On July 21 the Florence Tribune reported the Pima were
busy “hauling away their dead cattle and horses.””* More than 150,000 pounds
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of wheat (twenty-five hundred bushels) and five thousand pounds of beans
(eighty-three bushels) were distributed that summer, and Hadley continued
to distribute to “the needy and helpless.” Many Pima resorted to gleaning
grain from off-reservation fields. “[M]any of the Indians, by permission of the
owners of the lands, gleaned the fields and gathered many lbs. of which
greatly aided in their sustenance,” Hadley informed Commissioner William
Jones.™ Graves also reported poverty: “On account of the exhaustion of the
water . . . and a drought of unusual duration, . . . many [of the Indians] are in
a state of great destitution and want.”76

While the Pima—and, to a lesser degree, the Maricopa on the west end of
the reservation—suffered from drought, groundwater could still be found.
“Water can be had from ten to thirty feet deep in wells on all parts of the reser-
vation,” Hadley wrote in 1900, “and there is no reason why the Indians cannot
provide water for their stock with a little labor.” This truth reflected the fact
that, while the surface waters of the Gila River ceased to flow, the subsurface
flow was still there. Nonetheless, Crouse reported in December that the
underground flow had already dropped between five and eight feet in
Sacaton, although near Gila Crossing water continued to flow to the surface
through an underground alluvial spring.

The loss of water was compounded owing to the Pima’s traditional man-
ner of farming. Presbyterian missionary Charles H. Cook explained in 1913
that the Pima traditionally “did not irrigate too much [at one time] because
it would bake the land.” On the other hand, by irrigating a “little at a time,”
they could grow a good crop. Lower quantities of water dispersed over longer
intervals yielded higher quality crops since they minimized soil crusting. Cook
suggested this was the reason for the superior crops of the Pima before water
shortages. Crusting soil, which became more commonplace as water dimin-
ished, also resulted in reduced yields.”?

FORCED TO CUT WOOD

With the loss of their water resources the very life of the Pima was being
“taken from them,” Hadley told Jones. To survive, the Indians were now cut-
ting large quantities of mesquite wood to sell as a cash crop.” More than nine-
teen thousand cords of mesquite were cut and sold in 1900 alone. Inspector
Arthur Tinker indirectly blamed this cutting and the rising destitution on the
lack of irrigation water caused by large upstream diversions. The Florence
Canal Company not only continued to take most of the remaining surface
water from the river, but, by so doing, also prevented the natural recharge of
the underground aquifer beneath the reservation.”

The Pima had been cutting and selling mesquite since 1892, when
drought first began. In the span of a few years what had once been a dense
mesquite bosque stretching more than sixty-five miles along the Gila River
and its tributaries was nearly destroyed. Pima farmers, having little land to cul-
tivate because of the lack of water, turned to cutting mesquite. An 1896-97
Pima calendar stick, for example, noted that “the Blackwater Indians were
forced to leave home to sell wood.” A year earlier, nearly five hundred cords
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were cut and sold “by Indians whose crops had failed.” By the summer of
1900 the Arizona Gazette reported that more than thirty thousand cords of fire-
wood, “cut and piled between Maricopa Junction and Phoenix,” were waiting
to be transported to towns north of the reservation.8!

In December of 1899 Jones approved a plan to cut “dead and down wood”
within the reservation, although there was clearly no way to prevent individu-
als from cutting live trees to meet the needs of their families. Hadley
attempted to restrict the cutting of mesquite to an area west of the Maricopa
and Phoenix Railroad (in the Santa Cruz River drainage southwest of Pima
Butte). The railroad even built a special switching yard to accommodate the
Pima and Maricopa who sold wood.82 Between 1900 and 1905 more than fifty
thousand cords of mesquite were cut and sold for use off the reservation,
destroying an estimated sixty-four thousand acres of mesquite lands.83 In the
dozen years of famine mesquite was cut over nearly a hundred thousand acres
and sold as fuel wood in surrounding off-reservation towns, causing great eco-
logical, environmental, and cultural degradation on the reservation. The
proud, industrious Pima had been reduced to cutting firewood to provide the
barest of necessities for their families.34

There was an urgent need to deliver water to the Pima Reservation. The
Pima were “becoming dependent on the Government for their support,” the
Board of Indian Commissioners informed newly elected president William
McKinley in 1897. The following year the board expressed grave concern over
the president’s lack of attention to Pima water needs: “We regret that so little
progress has been made toward supplying the Pima” with water, the board
wrote. “A plan for their relief has been proposed, and we urged Congress to
appropriate a sufficient fund to carry it out, but all we could get was a grant
of $20,000 for a preliminary survey and estimate of the cost of the work.”s5 In
1901 the board made a dramatic plea for something to be done to alleviate
“famine struck” Pima. “White settlers on the river above them have recently
diverted this water. This they would not have been allowed to do without protest
and legal protection if the earlier irrigators had been whites and not Indians. . . .
These Indians are now in danger of starving because the water has been taken
from them and all their crops fail.”86 The Pima grew a meager 12,980 bushels
of wheat in 1900, enough for just 1,067 people to subsist on. More than four
thousand Indians faced some level of hunger. The board strongly urged the
president “to provide [the Pima with] an adequate system of irrigation.”s7

While the board’s report circulated in Washington, DC, the Pima contin-
ued to starve. Secretary of the Interior Ethan Allen Hitchcock dispatched
inspector Walter Graves to the Pima Reservation in the summer of 1900 to
“ascertain the feasibility of a limited system of irrigation” at a site on the Gila
River. Graves, however, was limited to “an expenditure not exceeding [thirty
thousand dollars].” This was “too small an amount” with which to build an
irrigation system and “too large an amount to waste” on building a system that
would wash out with the first flood. Instead of a limited system, Graves sug-
gested the development of a project to bring the “underground waters” of the
Gila River to the surface.s8
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The Gila River flowed until May in 1901, giving the Pima hope that they
might harvest a sustaining crop. But the water again gave out before the wheat
matured. “[T]he wheat shriveled up,” Hadley lamented, “and much of the
grain failed to mature at all.” Some twenty-five thousand bushels of wheat
were harvested that summer. While the summer rains began to fall in July,
they were not sufficient to sustain Pima summer crops. There was “no water
for their crops of corn, beans and pumpkins” and “unless the government
provides ways to work them and help the old and disabled of which there are
a large number, starvation awaits them.”89 Congress appropriated forty thou-
sand dollars to feed the Pima that year, but the people missed “their beans,
bacon, coffee, and sugar,” to which they had grown accustomed during the
good years.? About nine hundred Pima did “manage to eke out a living” at
Gila Crossing, one of the few areas within the reservation that had water.9!
Pima farmers cultivated fewer than thirty-six hundred acres in 1900.

APPEALING TO THE PRESIDENT

Conditions were so poor in 1902 that Chief Antonio Azul and twelve village
leaders petitioned Commissioner William Jones to provide them with work. “We
have had very poor or no crops for the past three years,” Azul wrote. “About two
thousand of us are not likely to raise any wheat this year, because we have no
water. . . . Our horses and cattle are dying for want of food and [having] noth-
ing to feed them we cannot work them. . . . Many of our people have not
enough to eat and to wear and don’t know what to do for a living.”¥2 Some “of
the older Indians who were once self-supporting are now drawing rations,” sixty-
eight-year-old Pima Juan Jose told Southworth in 1914, “while some of the Pimas
are living on what little they can make by selling wood.”? In April 1902
Congress formally acknowledged a measure of culpability for the condition of
the Pima. The federal government must “provide for these Indians who have
supported themselves by means of irrigation and cultivating the land from time
immemorial,” a Senate committee stressed, “in as much as the action of the
Government in disposing of lands to settlers higher up the river has deprived
them of the means of subsistence.”* Bostonian Louis Prang and his wife, tour-
ing the reservation in December of 1901, were personally moved to write
President Roosevelt of the “helpless, hopeless condition” of the Pima, urging
the chief executive to “give this subject your kindest special consideration.”??

The following year Azul also appealed directly to Roosevelt. Noting the
Pima’s historic assistance to American immigrants and his people’s long his-
tory of irrigation farming in the desert, Azul informed the president of their
suffering—and of their desire to remain self-sufficient. In recent years, the
aged chief told Roosevelt, “our water supply during low water has been taken
from us by whites, and there has been much suffering for the necessaries of
life.” Furthermore, Azul lamented, the Pima had experienced an agricultural
loss “of over $100,000.” In short, the Pima had been reduced to poverty.%

In the summer of 1903 Superintendent Alexander elaborated on the
hardships facing the Pima in a letter to Jones. Their “supply of water became
less and less each year,” Alexander wrote. “Still, they managed to live until a
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few years ago, when, as the result of continuous drought, starvation drove
them to seek aid of the Government. And in this pitiable dependent condi-
tion they must remain until water again flows in the canals and ditches so long
dry.”97 Even territorial governor Alexander Brodie acknowledged the Pima
were “cut off from agricultural pursuits” because of lack of water. Without
water some Pima left their farms and “wandered off to swell the ranks of the
nomadic element.”98

Roosevelt assembled a committee to examine the complaints of the Pima
and concluded that “the conditions of these people has been one of grinding
poverty and that there has been extreme and wide-spread suffering among
them.” While they had managed to retain “their self-respect and have endeav-
ored to eke out a living,” the president acknowledged that the “deprivation of
their water” was the cause of their condition. The committee acknowledged
that for all intents and purposes, there had been “no crops for six years and
most cattle herds had been sold for subsistence.” Eleven years of crop fail-
ures—including five consecutive years of failed winter and summer crops—
had reduced the Pima to a position of government charity.

Although the drought ended in 1905, the Pima continued to suffer depri-
vation. They had gone from a prosperous agricultural people to a poverty-
stricken people in the span of two decades. Once proud and industrious, the
Pima, against their will and wishes, were now dependent on federal assistance
for their very survival. They had cut and would continue to cut tens of thou-
sands of cords of mesquite, one of their most sacred and precious of resources.
By so doing, they lost an easily harvested and stored source of food—mesquite
beans, which were a staple food, especially in difficult times—albeit one that
was rapidly dying owing to lack of water and environmental changes on and
above the reservation. With the cutting of mesquite, the Pima environment was
markedly changed. Many Pima left the reservation to find work in nearby
mines, worked for local non-Indian farmers, or found employment with the
railroad. Many, especially the elderly, infirm, and young, continued to suffer
from deprivation.!? The Pima economy, once strong and vibrant, had been
marginalized. Discouraged and lacking water, the Pima could neither feed
themselves nor compete on any scale with the local economy. As one Pima
elder put it: “We are like the Papagos out in the desert” without water.10!

LOSS OF ECONOMIC SELF-SUFFICIENCY

A decade later Charles Southworth interviewed the chiefs and elders of the
Pima tribe in anticipation of litigating Pima claims. “Always in these talks,”
Southworth observed, “a certain bitterness was disclosed [by the Pima] at liv-
ing in the knowledge that the white man far up the river was stealing his water
which had once given life to fields of grain and had established a land of plenty
for hundreds of happy Indian families who were now scattered and left to shift
for a meager livelihood on a semi-barren desert.” In the words of fifty-one-year-
old Pima farmer Oliver Sanderson, the Pima were forced “by his white broth-
ers” to be “on the road continuously” selling wood or looking for work.102
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When Congress enacted into law the National Reclamation Act in 1902, it
assumed the first federal reclamation project would be for the benefit and
relief of the Pima on the Gila River Indian reservation. Yet no sooner had the
bill become law than political maneuvering in the Salt River Valley and
Washington, DC, persuaded the newly formed Reclamation Service to support
what became known as the Salt River Project.!9® Popular writer Charles
Lummis could not overlook the irony of the law: “Everyone remembers, of
course, that the very forefront of National Reclamation was the San Carlos
Reservoir. It was urged with all the eloquence of the irrigation crusade and
with the added plea of humanity. It was not only to be a great exemplar of the
noble National Irrigation policy of reclaiming arid public lands in order that
home seekers might find homes,” Lummis wrote in 1903, “it was also to suc-
cor something like 7000 Pima Indians . . . who are starving because deprived
of their water by white settlers.” If it had not been for the Pima, Lummis
added, “itis not too much to say that the whole National Irrigation movement
would have been handicapped by several years.”104

The loss of water resulted in the Pima’s becoming completely displaced
from their traditional economy and economically dependent. There was little
immediate hope they could join the growing economy of central Arizona
without protection of their water, a modern irrigation system to replace the
one they had abandoned because of water loss, and financial assistance to
compensate for the years of starvation. Without such support the Pima would
remain marginalized from the local economy.

Indian water rights were not a priority with the Indian Service or Congress,
which deferred to state law on all water matters. The Indian Service did not
have the resources or the expertise to initiate data collection to substantiate
Pima claims. Consequently, Pima water rights were ignored, with the underly-
ing assumption that they would simply disappear as the Indians were assimi-
lated into the local economy and polity. Assimilation was, after all, the
long-standing goal of the Indian Service as directed by Congress. While the
Indian Service attempted to invoke the beneficial use doctrine to protect Pima
water after 1912, it was too late, as the people had suffered through the worst
of the years of starvation and famine. Fully dependent on the federal govern-
ment for their protection, the Pima could do little of their own accord. Non-
Indian farmers not only continued to appropriate water that morally and
legally belonged to the Pima, but also used it to expand their economy further,
making it even more difficult for the Indians to compete. Not until 1924 would
Congress authorize the San Carlos Irrigation Project and the construction of
Coolidge Dam as a means of dealing with Pima water needs. Episodic famine
continued on the reservation for another fifteen years.1
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